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“Reminiscens~

The inception of @ local Historical Society,
as I recall it after some years, was in the mind
of Mrs. John Latane, who asked a group of
Lexington and Rockbridge County people to
meet at the Court House. This group did hold
a meeting—more than one meeting, I think
—and discussed plans for such an organiza-
tion. But the idea did not come to fruition at
that time. It was some two years later that a
larger number, comprised of the former
group and a number of others, got together
and actually launched the Rockbridge His-
torical Society. Due Credit, however must be
given to Mrs. Latane for her thought and ef-

fort. .
—8. P. Tomrxins,
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ORGANIZATION OF THE
ROCKBRIDGE HISTORICAL SOCIETY

On August 9, 1938, a number of citizens of Rockbridge
County and Lexington, Virginia, met in the Ann Smith
Academy, in Lexington, Virginia, to consider the formation
of a Rockbridge Historical Society. Mr. C. Cabell Tutwiler
presided at the meeting, and Mrs. Charles McCulloch acted
as secretary. IR

At this meeting it was agreed to form the Rockbridge His-
torical Society, and a constitution and by-laws for the society
were proposed and adopted. '

It was agreed that those who were present at the August
g9, 1938, meeting, and who desired to become members, should
sign their names on a paper prepared by the secretary, and
that these persons should be considered charter members
of the society. Twenty-nine of those present at this August
9, 1939, meeting signed the organization paper.

It was further agreed, at the August 9, 1939, meeting,
that those who had previously expressed an interest in the
formation of the Society and who had attended the prelim-
inary meeting on July 7, 1939, at Mrs. N. Beverly Tucker’s,
and who were unavoidably prevented from attending the
meeting on August 9, 1839, should be considered charter
members. Practically all of those who attended the meeting
at Mrs. Tucker’s on July 7, 1939, were present at the August
9, 1838, meeting.

See the minutes of the Society for July 7, 1839, and for
August 9, 1939. A list of those present at the July meeting
is given in the minutes, but the list of the twenty-nine who
signed the organization paper at the August meeting is not
given in the minutes, and this paper has not been found.

Since its organization on August 8, 1839, the Society has
held eight regular quarterly meetings: October 23,1939;
January 22, 1940; April 22, 1940; July 22, 1940; October 28,
1940; January 27, 1941; April 28 1941; July 28, 1941, :
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OFFICERS AND COMMITTEES, 1939

At the organization meeting of the Rockbridge Historical
Society, on August 8, 1939, the following officers were elected:

President . Dr. F. P. Gamnzs
First Vice-President................GEN. JAMES A. ANDERSON
Second Vice-President.. Mz. D. E. Brapoy
Third Vice-President Mg, Jou~n A. Granam
Fourth Vice-President Da. G. Borring Les
New York, N. ¥.
Fifth Vice-President........ciii. Mzr. W. Houston Barcray
Wichita, Kan.
Sixth Vice-Presidento . Mz, L. BEﬁKELEY Cox
Hartford, Conn.
Seventh Vice-President.... ..Mz, ALLAN McDoweLL
Kent Conn
Recording Secretary........ Mr. Marraew W, Paxron, Js.
Corresponding Secretary ................................. Miss Mary P. Barcray
Treasurer MR, Frawg J. Giuuiam
Librarian.. ; Dr. E. P. Tomprrins

The following Committees were later appointed by the

President:
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mns. Crarizs McCurrocH Chairman
Dr. F. P. Gaines, Ex Officio Gen. J. A. Anderson
Mr. D. E. Brady - Mr. John A, Graham
Mrs. Rosa Tucker Mason Mr. M. W. Paxton, Jr.
Miss Hope Stuart Dr, E. P. Tompkins
Mr. C. Cabell Tutwiler Major Paul Welles

COMMITTEES ON HISTORICAL RECORDS
Dr. James Lewis Howe Chairman

Sub-Committees

I—Committee On Genealogy
Dn FRANCIS LEE THURMAN. .o Chairman
Miss Henrietta Dunlap Col. C. N. Feamster
Mr. Hale Houston
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1I.—Commitiee on Biography

Dr. George H. DenNy Chairman
Col. William Couper Dr. L. C. Helderman
Mr. Harrington Waddell Dr. Reid White

111 —Committee on Historical Landmarks

DRr. LESLIE LYLE CAMPBELL .o e AT IOAT
Miss Ellen G. Anderson . Mr. B. F, Harlow
Miss Maud Houston Mr. W. Horace Lackey
Mr. J. Harry Lyle Hon. Miles Poindexter
Major A. W. Robertson Mr. E, T. Robinson

MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE

Mgs. Ernest A. Sale Chairman
Mrs. J. P. Alexander Miss Ellen G. Anderson
Mr. Frank Moore Mr. Earle K. Paxton

PROGRAM COMMITTEE

Mgs. Cuaries McCULLOCH........ Chairman
Mrs. E. P. Bledsoe Capt. G. D. Letcher
Mrs. Frank Moore

WAYS AND MEANS COMMITTEE

Mr. StuarT MoORE Chairman
Miss Jennie Hopkins Major Paul Welles

SPECIAL PROJECTS COMMITTEE

Miss Er1zaBets Barcray. .Chairman
Mrs. George M. Brooke Mrs. M. B. Corse
Miss Mary Warwick Dunlap Mrs. Charles S. Glasgow
Mrs. A. C. Lee Col. R. A, Marr

Mrs. Rose Tucker Mason Mrs. Livingston W. Smith
Mrs. N. Beverly Tucker Mr. J. A. Veech



RED HOUSE

The first regular quarterly meeling of the Rockbridge His-
torical Society was held in the Washington and Lee Student
Union building, on October 23, 1839,

At this meeting, Dr, Francis Lee Thurman read the follow-
ing paper on the “Red House,” the old home of John McDowell,
and the present home of Mrs, J. G. Alexander, near Fairfield, Va.

014 houses in the Valley of Virginia are not so old as
those in Tidewater, but there are some of them of very great
importance as keystones in history. Red House is one of
these,

After the siege of Londonderry, many Scotch-Irish emi-
grated to America, first to Pennsylvania, and later, to the
Valley of Virginia. John Lewis, who settled in Augusta and
founded Staunton, Virginia, attracted many prominent
families to the Valley, and among them were his cousins, the
McDowells, the Greenlees, the McClungs, the Mackeys, etc.
They came up the Valley from Harper's Ferry and the Win-
chester Country, and when they arrived at Staunton they
were attracted by the much heralded allurements of the Bor-
den Grant, which, on one side joined the great Beverley
Grant. Benjamin Borden met up with them at Staunton, and
steered them to his Grant. The venerable Ephraim Me-
Dowell, his daughter, Mary Greenlee, and her husband,
James Greenlee, his sons, James and John McDowell, and
the latter’s wife, Magdalena Woods, were the first emigrants.
Borden offered John McDowell one thousand acres of land,
of his own selection, situated where he wished, to survey
these lands for him. John and Magdalena Woods had been
married perhaps in Ireland, and had a child or two at this
time. He selected the site of Red House and one thousand
acres around it as his habitat. Old Ephraim had lands ad-
joining, and James and Mary Greenlee also settled nearby.
James McDowell did not remain here, but went on to North
Carolina and became the progenitor of all that very large
and rather distinguished North Carolina branch, John built
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a large log house, and different from his neighbors, skinned
the logs, so that they presented a white appearance. On the
back side of his lands was a vein of red ochre, and from this
he obtained a lot of powdered material, which, when mixed
with water, made a red paint, and with this he painied the
logs. This being the only one hereabouts thus decorated, it
was called the Red House. Here he lived the hardy life of the
pioneer, and here his sons, Samuel and James grew apace.
His arrival here was in October 1737, and he immediately
built his habitat before the winter came on. Samuel was the
older of the boys, and often carried the chain during the
surveys made for Benjamin Borden, in the Borden Grant
Thus it was that he became an important witness in bound-
aries disputes, which were frequent. John was a man of
substance and importance, and was made Captain of the
Militia Company, formed for protective purposes against the
Indians, In 1742, Iroquois Indians from New York came
through here on their way South to fight the Cherokees, or
Choctaws, and camped for some days near the Red House.
Indians always lived off the land through which they went,
as they had no commissaries, and having been plied with
much liquor, became quite obnoxious, killing a hog here,
and a cow there with their arrows, as if these animals were
public property. Col. Patton, of Pattonsburg, on the James
River, was County Lieutenant, and upon hearing of these
depredations, ordered Capt. McDowell to assemble his mili-
tia, and escort them through the territory. This was being
accomplished peaceably, when a lame Indian, who could
not keep up with the cavalcade, stepped out of the path, or
trail, for some purpose, and a degenerate white man, with-
out rhyme or reason, shot off his gun, either at him or to
scare him, and he immediately gave a war whoop, and the
battle was on, The Chief whirled and shot Capt. McDowel],
who was riding beside him, and somebody else shot the
Chief. In a little while seven or eight Whites were killed,
and about seventeen or eighteen Indians, when the rest took
to the mountains, and returned to New York. This fight oc-
curred on Balcony Downs, and the little stream where it
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took place is still called Battle Creek. This was the first fight
between the Whites and Indians in the County. The widow
of Capt. McDowell continued to live on at Red House with
her sons, Samuel and James, and her daughter Martha, who
later married George Moffett of Augusta County, and be-
came the progenitor of that very extensive and distinguished
family, R :

. After a few years, the elder Benjamin Borden having
died, his son, Benjamin, Jr., who inherited the major por-
tion of the ninety-six thousand acres grant, came acourt-
ing the widow McDowell. She did not look upon his suit with
favor at first, but eventually accepted him, They are sup-
posed to have continued to live on at Red House until Sam-
uel and James grew to manhood, and Samuel married a
Miss McClung and took possession, while his mother went
with her husband to the farther edge of his grant, where he
had prepared a home for her, which is still standing near
the Augusta line. In the meantime, James married a Miss
Preston, a granddaughter of Gen. William Campbell of
King’s Mountain fame, and built a house on his portion of
his father’s land, and called it Cherry Grove, Here was born
James McDowell, Jr, later a member of Congress and Gov-
ernor of Virginia. His sister, Elizabeth, married at Cherry
Grove, Thomas H. Benton, who later became so celebrated
as the Senator from Missouri. A daughter of Thomas H.
Benton married Gen. John C. Fremont, the man who, more
than anybody else, took California and much other terri-
tory from Mexico, for the United States. These personalities
of Cherry Grove were so noted and important that we
thought it necessary to digress from Red House, and men-
tion them.

Coming back to Red House, we find Samuel and his fam-
ily in full possession, and here in 1771 was born his son,
Ephriam, who later became the most distinguished surgeon
in the new world, and in Danville, Kentucky, performed
the first ovariotomy ever performed anywhere, and con-
ferred a boon to women before undreamed of. He was the
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first man who ever dared invade the sacred precincts of the
abdomen. .

Samuel McDowell became a Colonel in the Revolution -
and commanded a body of militia at the Battle of Guilford
Court House. He was also in the Virginia Legislature. The -
virgin soil of Kentucky, and the unlimited opportunities
there, caused him, in 1783, to migrate to that State, and as
the Law was his chosen profession, he had not been there
long before he was appointed a judge, and became one of
great note. At the same time, his son became the greatest
surgeon in the new world, When he Ieft Virginia, Red House
and the Red House lands were sold to the Treavy family,
and in 1778, Mr. Treavy built the present stately commodi-
ous and elegant mansion, somewhat in the front, and to the
side, of the original Red House. If was built as a combina-
tion house and tavern, and was a noted stage stop for many
years. The great room on the right side of the hall was at
first the depth of the entire house, with an immense fire-
place with pot hooks and hangers, but later was divided
into three rooms, the outlines of which show on the wains-
coating and the floor. One of these rooms was known as
the depository for saddles, saddlebags, and valuables, where
they could be safely taken care of over night. -A second
one was the tap room, where the inner man was refreshed,
and the middle one, with the large fire-place, was used
as a sort of loafing, or sitting room. The woodwork of the
old house is very good, and the original flooring is still
used throughout. The Layman Family came into posses-
sion of this fine old property by marriage, but it was later
bought by Dr. John H. Alexander, the grandfather of the
present owner. This grand old place is beautifully furnished
in mahogany and lovely hangings, and is one of the show
places of the Valley. In the nearby cemetery lie buried
many generations of the McDowells, and a fine monument
stands in the middle of the inclosure to Gov. James Mec-
Dowell and his grandfather, John McDowell, who was
killed by the Indians at Balcony Downs in 1742,



BORDEN’S GRANT

At the second guarterly meeting of the Society, held in the
Student Union building, on January 22, 1840, Dr. E. Pendleton
Tompking read the following paper on Borden’s Grant, a grant
that included a large portion of Rockbridge County. See Fron~-

tispiece.

An old Scotch minister ascended his pulpit one Sunday
morning, and announced his text in these words: Brethren,
I will preach this day on the text found in the book of Heze-
kiah, umpty-steen chapter and such-and-such verse, which
reads: “The devil goeth about like a roaring lion,” and my
sermon will be divided into three parts, namely-—and then
following the good old Scotch custom of repeating the sub-
stantive each time before the pronoun, he continued—first,
Who the devil he was; secondly, Where the devil he was
going; and thirdly, What the devil he was roaring about.

Following the example of this ancient of days, I will
divide my paper into three parts. When we speak of Bor-
den’s Grant” obviously there is implied a man by the name
of Borden. The man referred to here was named Benjamin
Borden; he hailed from New Jersey, and from this family
the city of Bordentown probably gets its name. So we will
discuss, first, Who Ben Borden was; second, Where Ben
Borden was going, and third, What the d—— Ben Borden
was raring about.

As to the first, all that is now kuown of him may be com-
prised in few words. As mentioned, he was a native or at
least a resident of Jersey; he came to Virginia, as some say,
first as an agent for Lord Fairfax. He made more than one
journey to this state, or colony as it then was; he was a man
of family, and acquired considerable property, and he made
a Will mentioning the name of his wife, Zeruiah, and those
of his nine children. More than this little is known of him,
but he was undoubtedly a man of energy and ability.

As to the second heading, viz: Where he was going. In
the beginning of his known history he was in Williams--
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burg in the early decades of the 18th century, where he be-
came acquainted with John Lewis, who had by then settled
in the Valley of Virginia. Lewis inviled him to visit his
home in the Valley, and Borden accepted. While on a-hunt-
ing excursion with Lewis and his sons, it is said they cap-
tured a buffalo calf, which some days later Borden took with
him to Williamsburg, and presented to Governor Gooch.
This story is discredited by some historians, but must have
had its origin in facts. This present was responsible, so it is
said, for Governor Gooch interesting himself in securing for
Borden a sizeable tract of land in the Valley.

And this grant of land was the main thing which Borden
was roaring, or r'aring about—this little matter of one hun-
dred thousand acres of magnificent territory, forming a large
part of our present county of Rockbridge. The casual way
in which Governor Gooch handed out this grant and others
of land he did not own, and which as yet was practically un-
explored, reminds me of the story of the man who was sen-
tenced by the Judge to a twenty-year prison term; and re-
marked to the sheriff as they left the court room: “He’s dam
liberal with other people’s time, ain’t he!”

Of course this is not fair to Governor Gooch, for he was
acting in the capacity of Crown representative, and the
Crown of England claimed vast territory beyond this local-
ity. Besides, though he signed the Grant, the right to it was
awarded Borden by the Council of Colonial Virginia, in an
order which reads in part as follows: Benjamin Borden and
William Robertson in behalf of themselves and divers Mas-
ters of Families inhabitants of East Jersey setting forth that
they are desirous to settle on the West Side of the great
mountain on Sherrando River, and praying a grant of one
hundred thousand acres of land to be laid out for them in
one or more Surveys, beginning at or near that part of the
great Mountains which is intersected by the South Branch
of James River and running Southerly and Westerly to Com-
plete that quantity. It is Ordered that the Petitioners have
a Grant for the aforesaid quantity of land at the place above
described upon condition that they settle one Family for
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each thousand Acres on the said Land within two years from
the date hereof and provided the same do not interfere with
the Grant made to John Tayloe and Thns Lee, Esgrs, and
Wm. Beverly, Gent. :

As may be noted from the foregoing, the exact location
of these lands was exceedingly hazy; the Order of Council
merely gives a somewhat indefinite starting point—"at or
near that point where the mountain is intersected by the
South Branch of James River, and extending in southerly
and westerly direction”—naming no other point of location
for the very good reason that no other point was known,

“the lands never having been explored except perhaps very
casually by daring adventurers. It was not until the Grant
had been actually surveyed and laid off by a competent sur-
veyor, and the “corners” marked—that is the various angles
marked—that any more accurate description could be given.
It speaks well for the knowledge and ability of the surveyor,
who will be presently mentioned, that he was able to run
lines many miles in their total length, and come so close
to the amount of land granted, for when the lines had been
established, and the acreage camputed it was found to be
92,100 acres.

And this brings us back again to the second heading,
where was Borden going? The Order of Council was dated
May 5, 1735, but Borden somehow let two years elapse be-
fore any settlers were actually on his land. His grant was
about to lapse by reason of the time limit assigned. So he
went again to the Council, as recited in the minutes of this
body, as follows: “ ... the petition of Benjn. Borden and
Wm. Robertson * * setting forth the Unforeseen Accidents
and difficulties which have prevented their seating the One
Hundred Thousand acres of Land granted them on the West
side of the Blew Ridge * * & praying further time for Set-
tling the said Tract,” etc. And the Council gave him an ex-
tension of time.

He then set about vigorously to obtain settlers, sending
agents to Europe to advertise his project. In the spring of
the year 1737 he set out to investigate his domain. It is some-
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what remarkable that we find nowhere any mention of his
partner, Wm. Robertson. We can only surmise that he must
either have died, or have withdrawn from the venture. Bor-
den was probably eager to see his land, but he was not a
little handicapped by his ignorance of just where it lay, and
how to locate it.

But if he might expect to make good his claim he must
find it, naturally. Consequently he took the plunge. Fate or
good luck was on his side, because as he journeyed, and as
night was about to overtake him, he was fortunate in com-
ing upon a party of pioneers makmg ‘camp for the night.
He approached them and asked leave to stay the night at
their camp. This part of the story is well told by one of these
pioneers, namely, Mrs. Mary Greenlee, in her famous “Dep-
osition”, made late in her lifetime, which is sometimes re-
ferred to as “The Corner-stone of Rockbradge History.” She
relates:

“That she, with her husband, James Greenlee, settle& in
Borden’s Grant. * * That shortly before her settlement on
said Grant, she, together with her husband, her father Eph-
raim McDowell, then a very aged man, and her brother John
McDowell, were on their way to Beverly Manor, and were
advanced as far as Lewis’ Creek, intending to stop on Shen-
andoah River, at that time never having heard of Borden’s
tract. * * That about the time they were setting up their
camp in the evening, Benjamin Borden, the elder; came to
their camp and proposed staying all night. In the course of
conversation said Borden informed them he had 100,000
acres of land on the waters of James River, or the forks, if
he could ever find it, and produced two papers (note ...
probably the two Orders of Council mentioned above,) and
satisfied the company of his rights. The deponent’s brother,
John McDowell, then informed the said Borden he would
conduct him to the forks of James River for 1000 acres of
land, and showed Borden his surveying instruments, ete.,
and finally it was agreed that said McDowell should con-
duct him to the grant, and she thinks a memorandum of the
agreement was then made in writing. They went thence
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to the home of John Lewis, who was a relation of deponent’s
father, * * and there further writings were entered into, and
it was agreed that they should all settle in Borden’s tract.
That the said John McDowell was to have 1000 acres for
conducting them there, agreeable fo the writings entered
into, and that the settlers were to have 100 acres for every
cabin they should build, * * * When the party came as they
supposed into the grant, they stopped near a spring near
where David Steele now lives, her brother and Borden went
down the branch until they were satisfied it was of the
waters of James River.” A “marker” erected at Mt. Carmel
Church by the Highway Depariment reads: “Near here the
first settlers of Rockbridge county pitched their first camp
in the county, 1737.”
Borden and John McDowell went as far as the forks of
South River and North River, “and having taken a course,
returned to camp.” This evidently was the starting point
they fixed upon. Then Mrs. Greenlee continues: “They then
went to the place called Red House, where her brother John
built a cabin, and settled there”. Dr. Thurman has told us
most entertainingly about the building of this cabin, and
“why it was called Red House. :
Her account goes on to say: This was the first party of
white people that ever settled on said grant. The said Bor-
den remained on the grant from that time, as near as she
can recollect, for perhaps two years or more, obtaining set-
tlers, and she believes there were more than a hundred
settlers before he left them. He was in the grant the whole
time after first coming until he left it before his death.
Just who were these settlers, that is the names of all of
them, is not now available, but the names of many have
been preserved. Richard Woods, Peter Wallace, Joseph Laps-
ley, and John Bowyer, each had a family, and nearly all of
them were related by blood kinship; and living to the im-
mediate west and south of Lexington; the Alexanders and
the McDowells, Greenlees, Stuarts, to the north; Matthews,
Archers, Witleys, Telfords, to the southwest part of the
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county; Hays, Walkers, toward the Beverly Manor {ract;
while Youngs, Campbells, Longs, Crawfords, Halls, Kerrs,
and many other names still represented in Rockbridge might
be mentioned.

The Rockbridge County News of January 8, 1940, re-
prints an old petition, the very earliest document recorded
in Rockbridge history, which gives names of many of these
settlers, these earliest pioneers.

Scanning the court records of the early day—which at |
this late day are practically all the records that have been
preserved—we learn something of the character and the
propensities of these pioneers, something of the fibre of
which they were composed. On the whole they were a God-
fearing people, they tried to live right, and to keep their
fellowmen in the straight and narrow way. They were a
stern race, hardy in body, keen in mind, and they undoubt-
edly endeavored fo live up to the moral code. As to the way
they brought up their children, a little jingle has been
penned which has probably more than a modicum of truth:

“They raised them rough, they raised them well—
When their. feet were set in the paths of hell,
They put in their hearts the fear of God,

And tanned their hides with a stiff ramrod!”

They had strict laws, and they enforced obedience to the
law. Numerous judgmentis of the courts are recorded, for
example: Samuel Hulls presented for breach of the Sabbath
by singing prophane songs. Called court on Elizabeth Smith
for stealing—39 lashes. The King vs. George Lewis for driv-
ing his wagon on the Sabbath. Edward McGarry, on sus-
picion of felony, to stand in the pillory. Tom, a slave of
" Robert Bratton, (this was in 1768) house-breaking and
horse-stealing, Convicted, 39 lashes and his ear cropped.
Slave Hampton, house-breaking and larceny, convicted and
sentenced to be hanged on the 30th inst. The death penalty
for stealing, mind you!

Nor did they spare a man because of his prominence,
as witness, John anyer—-—pzjesumably the president of the
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justice’s court—disturbed the court by playing at “fives”;
fined five shillings. A note is made in 1766: Sheriff is ordered
to repair the pillory, and underpin the stocks. These were
kept ready for use.

Danger from lurking Indians was no baseless threat. It
is said that some years ago a couple of boys were talking
together, one being a McNutt, and the other a descendant
of Mary Moore. The McNutt lad said: One of my relatives
was tapped on the shoulder by the King’s sword, and he was
made a knight—Sir Alexander McNutt. The other boy
thought a minute, then said: Well, my great-grandfather,
James Moore, was tapped on the head by an Indian chief,
and that made an angel of him.

Besides the menace of Indians, a constant fear, they were
beset by an abundance of wild beasts—wolves and panthers
probably being the worst. Bounties were paid for the heads
of these creatures, in order to exterminate them as far as
possible, and in November, 1751, the authorities paid for 225
wolves killed in the county.

The appraisement of estates of deceased persons, that is
a list of the decedent’s property with valuation of each item,
occupies many pages of the records. On the whole this is
rather dry reading, yet in contemplating what they had one
can in a measure estimate what they accomplished. Many
of the implements listed are wholly unknown to most peo-
ple of the present day, for example, “hackle”, “scutching-
knife”, “frow”, “dog-iron”, “dough-chist”, etc. In the ap-
praisement of the estate of Mrs. Mary Greenlee we note:
14 sheets and 3 quilts, $25. These sheets were undoubtedly
hand-woven of linen, raised on her own farm, the flax “ret-
ted, scuiched,and hackled,” then spun and woven beneath
her own roof, and probably by her own hand. Also what is
somewhat unusual: 6 silver teaspoons and sugar tongs, $5.00.
Her estate—that is her personal property, totalled $2970.00
- —not an inconsiderable estate for that day. One noteworthy
fact is that while domestic fowls as chickens, ducks, or tur-
keys are never listed, they must have had such—yet geese
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are often included in these lists. This undoubtedly was be-
caused geese furnished feathers for their feather beds, which
were amongst their most prized possessions. But why this
invidious distinction? 3

The matter of religious worship occupied a large place
in the community life. The next thing after getting them-
selves established, and a roof over their heads, was provid-
ing a place of worship. So it was that some of the churches
in our midst today date back into that period. On May 20,
1748 is recorded: “On motion of Matthew Lyle it was ordered
certified that they had built a Presbyterian meeting-house
at a place known as Timber Ridge; another at New Provi-
dence; and another at Falling Spring”. A little later this
record: On motion of Richard Woods, on behalf of himself
and others, ordered that a Presbyterian meeting-house in
Forks of James River in this county, be and hereby is re-
corded as a place of public worship, Monmouth or Hall’s
meeting-house.

Reading of the courageous and consecrated men who
served these churches and other pioneer churches, who
made wearisome journeys, and braved the dangers of the
wilderness to bring the word of God to their people, one
can only wonder if the sense of duty faithfully performed
was not nearly all the compensation received by them. It
is safe to say that they certainly were not in the same cate-
gory as a certain preacher of more recent date, as implied
in this story. Three small boys were discussing finance; one
said; My father can sit down and write a short piece, and
get five dollars for it; the second spoke up: My father can
go fo the races and come back with a hundred dollars. The
third could hardly wait to exclaim: Shucks! that ain’t
nothin’; my father can get up in the pulpit, and preach a
sermon, and it takes six men to carry the money to him!

Another thing of community importance were mills,
They began to raise grain at once—in fact Mrs. Greenlee
mentions that her brother James McDowell had raised a
crop of corn in Beverly Manor the year before they all set-
tled on Borden’s lands. A mill is a prime necessity for con-
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verting grain into flour or meal, and they were built early.
The first was probably Hay’s mill in the northern portion
of the county, and perhaps the second one built was that of
James Young, on Whistle Creek, a couple ‘of miles from
Lexington. The dam built on Whistle Creek for this mill is
yet in existente, in fact in excellent state of preservation;
the site of the mill itself is evidenced by two very sturdily-
. built pillars, which supported one side of the structure, Two
or three members of this society recently visited this spot,
and photographs were made by one of these gentlemen.

Perhaps the statement that Borden had gotten his grant
prior to all this, is misleading; for he only as vet had the
promise of the lands. As a matter of fact his actual instru-
ment of writing bearing the signature of Governor Gooch
has as its date the sixth day of November, one thousand
seven hundred and thirty-nine—that is more than two years
after McDowell had made the survey.

It would be far too tedious to enumerate the many “metes
and bounds” of the Grant in this paper. Sufficient to say that
four (4) of the “corners” are known and can be inspected
by those who care to do so. Correspondence with a gentle-
man of Augusta county in rather recent times, a man whom
I have not yet met in person, tells me that he has located
and identified some of the “corners” not very far from his
home; this gentleman is Mr. Walter Kerr, of Route 3, Staun-
ton. He writes interestingly, and portions of his letter being
pertinent to our subject will be given. He says:

“The first ‘squatters’ had nothing to show for their hold-
ings except the blazed trees as lines of their so-called ‘toma-
hawk rights’, till Benjamin Borden laid off the polygonal
tract of 62 corners, beginning here at the 33d corner of Bev-
erly’s ‘Manor’, and they both received their Patents from
King George II of England. Then both Beverly and Borden
could give the new settlers titles from the King’s Grant,
which were better than their blazed enclosures of the first
clearings merely. But the McDowells, the Paxtons, the
Alexanders, the Grigsbys, the Greenlees, et als. of Bordens
‘tract of 92,100 acres, (and the King offered him more, for
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he visited George 1I, in person}, and the Kerrs, Lewises,
Pickenses, Bells, Crawfords, McCues, et als, of Beverly’s
tract of 118,491 acres, through Lieut.-Governor Wm. Gooch,
after the surveys of 1736 and 1738, and the King’s patent
to Beverly and Borden,—all felt that their holdings were -
more secure, and becoming matters of record, especially
after the first court of 1745, at “Beverly’s Mill Place”, now
Staunton. These were almost purely Scotch and so-called
Scotch-Irish, and were not yet mixed w1th the Germans
of the lower Valley.

*Borden, Beverly, John Lew:s, and Sallings, all came
together down at Lewis’s “Bellefont” home, (now near
Staunton}, probably in 1736, and much planning was done,
we can imagine. Anyway, it seems that these pioneers were
perfectly agreeable. This meeting was after Salling’s Indian
experience of some years, and some time after Lewis slew
the Irish lord and escaped fo America.”

And Mr. Kerr goes on to say: I have blue-prints of both
the Beverly and the Borden tracts, which have four sides
or courses in common, 1 am enclosing a rough draft of them,
but know they are familiar to you.” After Borden left the set-
tlement, in 1739, as above stated, it would seem that he
never came back, for his death occurred not many years
later, that is in 1743. But a new character appeared upon
this stage in the meantime, this being a son of Ben Borden,
who bore his father’s name, and was known as Ben Borden
the younger. He came fo take charge of his father's busi-
ness, assigning lands to newly arrived settlers, and making
titles. He, of course, came to know the MeDowells, and while
here lived in John McDowell’s family. But he had gone
back to his father’s home in New Jersey before the occur-
rence of a tragedy which threw & deep gloom over the
entire seitlement. ;

This sad happening took place in E!ecember 1742, and
came about in this way: A certain party of Indians from the
North, of the Iroquois tribe, came through the settlement,
and some of them began marauding, killing animals which
were the property of the whites, and making themselves
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objectionable. John McDowell had been appointed by the
Governor a captain of militia in response to the before-
mentioned petition, so it developed upon him to call out
the militia, which he promptly did, to “escort” the red men
beyond the bounds of this settlement. Dr. Thurman, in his
paper at our other meeting, has told what happened; a
pitched battle ensued at or near Balcony Falls, and Mec-
Dowell with several of his men lost their lives.

After the death of McDowell, and that of Borden, senior,
which was not many months later, the younger Borden
returned to the settlement, being now more than ever in- -
terested in the Grant. Under the English law of primogeni-
ture he fell heir to all real estate, to the exclusion of his
brothers John and Joseph, and their several sisters. In the
court records of that day the first-born son is always desig-
nated as “eldest son and heir-at-law’” of so-and-so. As ex-
pressed in the deposition, he was “full empowered under
his father’s will to complete titles, and to sell land”. In the
course of time he courted and married the widow of Mc-
Dowell. Mrs. Greenlee has a restrained but slightly caustic
comment to make on this; she says: Young Ben Borden came
into the grant before her brother John’s death. “She recol-
lects this from his being in ordinary jplight, and such that
he did not seem much respected by her brother’s wife, and
when she (that is Magdalena Woods McDowell) afterward
married him she could not but reflect upon the circum-
stances.” And she goes on to say that young Borden “con-
tinued to live at the same place where her brother settled
as aforesaid until his death”. By this she refers o the death
. of Ben Borden, junior, as he contracted smallpox and died
in 1753,

After the death of the younger Borden, another char-
acter appears upon our stage, a man who was destined to
play an important part in the affairs of that early day.
This was John Bowyer, who later became General John
Bowyer. Of his birth and boyhood apparently little has been
recorded. He appears first in this section some time in the
1750’s, possibly not long after the death of Borden, junior.
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He came as a teacher, though how long he taught and just
where his school was located is not clear.

After the lapse of some time he became the third hus-
band of Magdalena Woods, who had been the Widow Me-
Dowell, and then the Widow Borden, her new husband be-
ing somewhat younger than herself. He took charge of her
rather extensive interests, and apparently managed them
to her satisfaction. In that remote day accounts and records
were not accurately kept, and business seems to have been
done in more or less haphazard fashion, that is as regards
real estate ownership. Mrs. Greenlee, in being interrogated
when giving her deposition—she being ninety-five years
old at the time—was asked this guestion: “Did not many
persons, in the lifetime of the older Borden, settle in the
Grant, under the expectation of getting land at the usual
price, and without first contracting with Borden?” To which
her reply was: “I think many settled before they had op-
portunity of seeing Borden.” And another question was
asked her: “Do you not believe the first deeds were made
for the cabin rights?” To which she replied this was perhaps
true. It was understood that building a cabin would entitle
any pioneer to claim one hundred acres surrounding it.
The inexactness of doing business in this way gave rise to
endless law suits; suits were filed and cross-suits were filed,
and they occupied the dockets of the courts for almost a
full century, one generation taking up where the previous
one left off, and witnesses having died, and documents lost
or destroyed, gave rise to such a maze of uncertainty that
finally the judge in the case ordered it swept from the
docket. The records in “The Celebrated Borden Case” fills
two large folio volumes in the record office in Staunton.

General Bowyer occupied positions of trust and responsi-
bility in Augusta county, later in Botetourt county, and
finally in Rockbridge county, without having moved his
home from one location. He built and lived in the place
which is a landmark in this section, known as “Thorn Hill”,
and his tomb is in the Lexingion cemetery.

The history of Borden’s Grant is that of a large section
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of Rockbridge county, for it was co-extensive with the en-
tire northeastern portion; and the people who made its his-
fory are amongst the best, the progenitors of people of
prominence not only in this state, but in many other far
distant localities. The maze of relationship between the
Woods and the Wallaces, the McDowells, the Greenlees, the
Grigsbys, and many others would require the skill of the
best genealogists to trace and unravel.

One of the hardships the young and marriageably in-
clined generation had to encounter was the difficulty in
getting the matrimonial knot tied. The English laws about
church matters were nothing less than onerous on the Val-
ley people. For a long time there was no Church of Eng-
land clergyman in this section, and the stringent mandates
of the Crown would not permit the Presbyterian ministers,
even when there was in the settlement such a minister, to
perform the marriage ceremony. Mrs. Sampson, in her
sprightly book, “Kith and Kin", gives an entertaining ac-
count of four young couples, all eight of them more or less
blood kin to the others, cousins in some degree, making
the trip to Orange Courthouse to get the nuptial knot tied.
This was what they had to do, go all the way across the
mountains {o the county seat, for until 1745 this was a part
of Orange county, after that year it was Augusta county,

One of the earliest Presbyterian divines who was in this
section, as mentioned in Waddell’s “Annals of Augusta
County”—though he did not become a resident, was Rev.
Hugh McAden, who was visiting in the home of Joseph
Lapsley, I believe, the day on which Braddock’s Defeat oc-
curred, or when tidings of this disaster came to this region;
he mentions it in his “diary” which is still extant, and speaks
of the terror arcused by this news in the minds of the set-
tlers, for they thought the Indians would probably exter-
minate them. This was in the summer of 1755,

The temptation to go into the family history of these
early settlers is great, but I must desist, for though highly
interesting as was all that concerned them, their ways and
means of making their homes and extracting a living in the
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wilderness, their church life, their community affairs, their
mills, their forts against the Indians, the network of inter-
marriage and blood relationship—all this would lead me
into an endless recital, and 1 must forbear, and defer to
some later date accounts of the “highlights” of the hardy -
and daring Scotch-Irish who began the development of this
magnificent region in which we are pnvﬂeged to hve at
this day and time.

‘And now I will—in the language of legal writs—cease
and desist, lest you begin to think I am the exemplification
of the school-boy’s definition of a circle, which he describes
as a line which meets iis other end without ending.



WAR AND WORK

The third quarterly mesting of the Society was held on
April 22, 1940, in the Student Union building. On this occasion
the following paper on: War and Work; or Side-Lighis on Lee
and Jackson, was read by Col. William Couper, of the V. M. 1,

When Captain Letcher relayed the message to me re-
questing that I speak to you this evening I agreed, but told
him to say that, as everybody around here knew about the
foundation of V. M. L, I would use the subject “War and
Work.” Almost everybody who ever lived in Lexington can
be woven into a story having that title, but in this case, as
in the case of most addresses, the title may be likened to
“the flowers that bloom in the Spring, tra-la”

As time marches on, incidents which once were well
known in localities become legends unless someone takes
the trouble to preserve and make available the contempo-
rary written record. I shall assume that the preservation
and dissemination of such inecidents is one of the ohjectives
of this group. The bare statements that such and such hap-
pened may appeal to older citizens, but if we can inject an
element of search beyond the written record perhaps with
the aim of ascertaining why some of the little known or
well known events happened we may be able to broaden
the field of interest. Later I shall mention such an incident.

With the passage of time, changes take place in the
people of a community and in the things builded by them,
but changes in the vegetation and climate at any given
season remain substantially the same. And so recalling
what things look like today, we have a fair picture of the
countryside on April 22, 1861. On that day about one hun-
dred eighty young men had traveled by train from Staun-
ton to Richmond and at just about this time in the evening,
exactly seventy-nine years ago, they detrained and under
their {emporary commander, Major Thomas J. Jackson,
they proceeded to a camp where volunteers for service in
the military forces of Virginia were being assembled. No-
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tice, they were Virginia troops, but later troops from all
the southern states gathered there and they also were drilled
by the cadets who detrained at about this hour of the night.
Just a few hours before this, the commander of the Virginia
forces, General Robert E, Lee, had arrived in Richmond.
We shall refer to him again, and the place fo which the
cadets marched had a few days before been named Camp
Lee, in honor of General Henry Lee, the father of the new
commander, and he too we shall speak of later.

Here in a few words we have introduced the two great
military chieftains who lived in Lexington. It was a strange
turn of fortune that caused Major Jackson to command the
V. M. L. cadets when they left their academic work and went
forth to war—surely he had never commanded the corps
before, nor did he continue in command after reaching Rich-
mond. There Major Gilham, the commandant, who had gone
forward just one day before and who had charge of the
camp of instruction, resumed his accustomed command and
when other duties prevented, Major Colston succeeded
him. Exactly one week later Major Jackson, who had been
promoted fo the rank of colonel, was arriving at Harper’s
Ferry where he began the amazing operations which ter-
minated at his death almost exactly two years later.

That General Jackson was a citizen of Lexington was
due to a professor at Washington college. Paradoxically this
professor had been brought in because of the severance of
an agreement under which some members of thé two
student bodies pursued studies at both institutions. The So-
ciety of the Cincinnati had predicated a donation of funds
to the college on a requirement that, among other things,
the students be given a course in military science. When
the agreement with the Institute was finally terminated in
1847, it was necessary to employ someone who could teach,
among other things, the required subject, and in that way
Major David H. Hill became a member of the college faculty.
Within a year, when the faculty of the Institute was being
enlarged, it was Major Hill who first suggested and who
actively advocated the appointment of his friend, Major
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Jackson. There was no kinship between the two friends at
the time, but soon the relationships between the two insti-
tutions, which were strained at that time, began to intérwine.
Within three years Jackson was living in the home of the
president of the college (he married President Junkin’s
datighter). Later, at his second marriage, he became the
brother-in-law of Major Hill. Then he moved to the house,
which is now a part of Jackson Memorial Hospital—the
same house in which his brother-in-law, Major J. T. L. Pres-
ton, was born, the same house to which Major Jackson ac-
quired his title by a deed filed on a memorable date—Jan-
uary nineteenth (1859). That probably would not be done
today, as January 18, General Lee’s birthday, is a legal
holiday. Nor should we stop there with our relationships-—
Major Preston was a graduate of Washington college; he
had been the principal advocate of converting the old Lex-
ington Arsenal into a military college; he had married an-
other daughter of President Junkin, and in the house from
which he took his bride, and in which Major Jackson had
lived, General Lee lived when he became 3 resident of Lex~
ington. But enough of this local maze which has had to do
with residents who worked here and leaders well known in
the annals of war. Let us go afield for a time.

A few months ago—it was on Christmas Day—I stood in
the snow before a large sign which tells the world that the
town beyond is Kearney, Nebraska. In the middle of the
sign was inscribed 1,733 miles”~—one arrow pointed east to
Boston and the other west to San Francisco. It claimed to
be exactly halfway between the two seaports, and a few
feet away was a granite marker, which revealed that this
was a point on the Old Oregon Tra:l ‘What has that o do
with a meeting like this?

Well, the marker was erected by a society which does
some of the things we hope to do, and after a few minutes
I shall relate an incident, which probably merits the erec-
tion of a marker near here, which this society, in conjunc-
tion with others, might feel that it is proper to endorse
The marker in Nebraska was placed in 1910 by the D. A. R,,
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and was the ﬁrst of many such monuments which now pre-
serve the path by which the settlers went. overland. The
town,  Kearney, derived - its name from the nearby fron-
tier fort which guarded the trail and both_ were named for )
a General Kearny who served elfectl ly in the Mexican
War. Later; a ' nephew, General® Phil earny served gal-
lantly in the Federal Army in the War Between the States
‘During this latter service it was his misfortune to be in
command of some Federal troops who endeavored to stop
the Confederates ‘when they. swept_on towards Washmg—
ton ‘following the Battle of Second Manassas At a place
called:Ox Hill, or Chantﬂly, in a deluge of rain, “Stonewall”
Jackson’s men swept.away the Federais and General Kearny
was killed. The next day, under a flag of truce, his body was
sent by General Lee through the Federal . lines, as he felt
that it might give the family some ‘consolation fo have it
He had known and served with. Keamy in Mexico. Later,
the widow asked for Keamys sword, harse and saddle.
General Lee had these articles appta;se¢ paid for them
himself-and then forwarded them threugh the enemy lines
to. the widow. :

Now here is a thmg we can all understand All the
warld loves a lover and I think we could add- It loves a
“chivalrous - gent}eman and that type of genemmty called
sportsmanshlp

. And'so from far oﬁ Nebraska we tieina htt}e story which
embodxes ‘many - elements explammg the . gradual ‘eradica-
tion of prejudices. Flghters, yes. Fight to kill, yes. Fight ac-
cording to the rules of the game, yes. And that’s what peo-
ple are gradually learning these men stood for. -

- Nebraska, Kearny, Chantﬂly, Lee and Jacksonw—we are
v-back where we started, -

- ~Recently I have read. agam the mterestmg book edlted
i by Dr. Franklin L. Riley, entitled “General Robert E. Lee
after Appomattox.” The matenal there assembled was gath-
ered from all known sources under the. supervision. of a
committee of the Board of Trustees of. W. & L. University,
one of whom, Mr. Harrmgtcm Waddell is. here -tonight,
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This material was carefully edited and the first chapter

tells us “How Lee became a College President.” The second
is headed “Why General Lee Accepted the Presidency of
Washington College.” In brief the “how” appears to have
been based on a statement by General Lee’s daughter, Miss
Mary Lee, to the effect that “while the Southern people
were ready and willing to give her father everything that
he might need, no offer had ever been made him by which
he could earn a hvmg for himself and family.”—his name
was then placed in nomination at the meeting of the Col-
lege trustees on August 4, 1865, and he was unanimously
elected. The “why” is recorded by General Lee’s son, Cap-
tain Robert E. Lee, who prefaced his remarks by saying
that his father “had already been offered the vice-chancel-
lorship of the ‘Umversﬂy of the South,” at Sewanee, Tenn.,

but declined it on the ground that it was denominational,

and to some suggestions that he should connect himself
with the Universzty of Virginia, he objected because it was
a State institution.” In his letter replying to his election
notice, General Lee gives no reason- for his ‘acceptance—
rather did he point out some reasons why it might not be
prudent for the trustees to adhere to their action. However,
in an address delivered by Bishop Wilmer of Louisiana, af-
ter General Lee’s death, he stated that-disregarding. the
-size and the then condition of Washington College, “his
mind towered above these earthly distinctions; that, in his
judgment the cause gave dignity to the institution, and not
the wealth of its endowment or the renown of its scholars;

that this door and no other was opened to him by Provx«
dence .

That ls, 1 beheve, su’bstantiany the story as 1t now: stands,
many-others have copied it; and perhaps it is the complete
story, but it seems to me that there must have been some
other reasons and I shall mention three. This I do with some
hesitation because I realize that some will say—what you
are attemptmg is the function of an historian—you are an
engineer. Well, that is true but when the prosaic duties con-

~ nected with my daily stint are over, instead of raising fancy
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chickens or roses, I like to indulge in the quest of some phase
of history—it is in the nature of a- hobby. - ; .
0£ course, I could give you many definitions of an engi-
neer, Some are facetious and I'll repeat one such which I
_presume was first ‘uttered by a purchasing agent. He said:
- An engmeer is said to be a man who knows a-great: deal
about a very little, and who goes along knowix;g 1more and
more about less and less untﬂ ﬁnally he knows praetlcany
everything about nothmg .

Whereas, a salesman is'a man who knows very Tittle
about a great “deal, and keeps knowing less and less about
more and more untﬂ he knows practxcally mthmg about
everythzng RER

“On the othe.r hand a purchasmg agent starts out know-
ing pracncal”ly everything ‘about ‘everything but ends up
knowing nothing about- anything due to his assamamon ‘with
engmeers ‘and salesmen.

Well, let's start with two' engmeers, both general oﬂicers
m the armies of the Southem Confederaey It ‘was one hun-'

Ly -
or Insiruétor ‘at the Mxlitary Insutute, if 1 wﬁl accept the
position. I wﬁl be glad to accept any posmon at the Va. Mil
Instxtnt fb!“ whxch Tam quahﬁed 2 e
“led to his appomtment as Prefessor of Civil
eer"g_and 4 pphed Mechanws atV M L

been in Lexmgton and Who had no then known connectmn
with the commiinity, knew that hzs son would be a’ fellow
resident and ‘neighbor. e

Many of you Tecall the old cadet cemetery whlch was
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obliterated when the parade ground was enlarged in 1514,
The changed terrain, however, makes it difficult to recall
that it was on the predent parade ground, the northern boun-
dary was near the quarters now occupied by me and those
occupied by Colonel Steidtmann. The maps confirm th;ts. The
cadet cemetery was located in a dell—one of the sink Holes
which you find in a limestone country and it was surround-
ed by fine, large trees. It was-a beautiful spot. This ceme-
tery was established in 1878 when the bodies of the cadets
killed at New Market were buned there—-at }east, five of
them were. Mmd you, this was 14 years. after the Battle
of New Market but the origin. of the cemetery antedates the
battle. Let me read you an Act passed on March 28,. 1861 )
“Be it enacted by the general assembly, that the sum
of one thousarti dollars, .or so much. ‘thereof .as shall be
necessary, shall ‘be and is- hereby appmpriate& to be ap-
plied, ‘under the direction of the governor, for the removal
of the remains of General Henry Lee from the cemetery
of P. M. Nightingale, ‘esquire, in the island of Cumberland,
Ga,, to the public grounds of the Lexmgton military insti-
tute, and for erecting over them a suitable monument.”
Twenty days after the enactment of that bill ergmr.a ;
seceded from the Union and four days.later the corps of -
cadets marched to Richmond under Ma;or Jackson and this
-combination of circumstances delayed the removal of the
body e E
You Wlll reca‘ﬂ that “Lxght Horse Harry” Lee in retn:m-
ing from. a trip to the West Indies, where he had been for
his health, requested the captain of the sschooner on whxch
he was smlmg, to put him off at Cumberland Island. His
health was failing fast and he kiew that the daughter of
his old‘ commander, General. Nathamei Green, to whom the -
State of Georgm had. presented a place. called _Dungeness,
was living on this island. She cared for hlm tenderly but his
time had come and he died soon, after, on March 11, 1818.
There in the beautxful garden of Dungeness the body of
this great hero of the Revolution was laid to rest with mili-
tary honors; there his grave was first visited by his illus-
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trious” son, General. Robert E. Lee, 44 years later, at the
time when “Stonewall” Jackson was finishing his wintry
Romney campaign—but it was just_ 10 months after the pas-
sage of the Act which was read to you. Up to that time there.
had been no particular thing which conneeted General Rob-
ert E. Lee with Lexington, save probably one which I shall”
mention shortly, but it seems to me-.one of the strange
coincidences of history that the. bociy of “Light Horse Harry”
Lee should have been brought to Lexington to be laid to rest
by the side of his son, a most apg;‘opmate thing to do, in a
spot—with the whole land of the free to choose from—just
five hundred yards from the place where the General As-
sembly of our-State decreed that he should: he,, Fxfty-two
years elapsed between the passage of: the Act of 1861 and. the
removal of his remains. (The hody was. plaeed in the Lee
Chapel May 30, 1913.)
 Here we find item: two. General Lee knew that the re-
mains of his father would ’be in Lexmgton :
* Another little incident occurs to me. At th 1me Gen— '
-eral Lee was-asked to come to: Lemngtom Washmgton Col-.
lege was small—there were about 40 students. He had. been
approached by other larger institutions and. had. declmed
He was, however, much interested in the offer: he received
from: Lexmgton and, according to his Ietters, seems .t0.-have
had two things in his mind which caused him to hesitate
about commg««hzs ‘age would prevent. him from actively -
engaging in teaching, and secondly he. felt that one of the
most necessary - things to impart in a student is ‘the habit
" of obedience to constituted. authority. At that time General
Lee was under indictment; was specifically excluded from
benefits of the: ‘proclamation of amnesty; and felt that this
nught militate against the coﬁege—«thxs view fortunately
the trustees did not share and-so he came to- Lexington, All
of his pmpery ‘had been confiscated - and his home ‘then, as’
now,; was in the hands of the Federal Gevemment It is but
- natural for one's. heart to be where one’s home is—but. if
there is no home then the heart will probably follow those
things which have always been around the home. This leads
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to the second day of December, 1865, when the Lee family
arrived and joined the General who had gone on to Lexing-
ton some time before—one of the first things to be done
was to go out and dig up the family silver. This silver had
been sent to Lexington long before the Lees had any idea
of living here and, before Hunter’s raiders swept down the
Valley, the old Sergeant at V. M. I fook the Lee silver,
which was packed in two large chests, and buried it in a':_
~ safe placé known only to himself. There it was found after
the arrival of the Lees “safe and sound but black with
mould and damp, useless for the time,” wrote the General’s.
son, Robert, who was present when the silver was exhumed
and who added that the silver was sent here early in the
war. And so ‘General Lee opened his camp chest and for a
period the forks, spoons, plates of his camp chest were used
by the family.

Here we have item three, and summarxzmg these mun-
dane thmgs, we find that General Lee, then nearly 59 years .
of age, knew that his son wwould be here; that it would be
the burial place of his distinguished father; and that it was
the harbor of his worldly ‘possessions. These ‘same: thmgs
had some effect on Mrs. Lee also.

Just why Lexington should have been pmked as the pIace
to send the Lee silver is not clear, although General Custis
Lee in writing to his sisters ‘(Annie and Agnes) two years
before (August 18, 1862), had said: “The rest of you will
have to fix yourselves in some safe place where food and
fuel are abundant. What think you of Lexington, Va.? It
is: safe now How long it wﬂ! ccmtmue so, it is nnpossxble
{0 say.”

This may have had somethmg to do with the selectmn
of the locality-~it was supposed to be safe. However, it is
extremely difficult to find a paper writing about these treas-
ures. The utmost secrecy had to be preserved and neces-
sarily so, for it ‘was not long before 18,000 troops swarmed
- along the three roads leading toward Lexington and the
‘records show that they tock what they could find. The letter
‘press booksat the V. M. 1. showing the outgomg letters are
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silent, as you might-expect, but there is probably a clue in

a faded letter written in pencil by Anne Rose Page. The -
place of writing is given simply as “Parsonage” and the
letter is dated “June 9th, Saturday” and is filed with. the
letters of 1864 and was so marked by the file clerk. The let-
ter seems to be an.answer to a reassuring note sent to Mrs.

Lee after the invaders passed through Lexington and here

the date on the letter serves to becloud things again. June

9; 1864, did not fall on: Saturday, but the words “June”. and .
“Saturday”’:are distinct. The answer seems clear—-July 9,
1864, was intended, it did fall on Saturday, and the invaders
passed through between the two. dates The 1etter is in: my
hands and it reads: ... : S ;

o “Ma;or General F H Srmth”

“Sir: : :

) “Mx's Gen. Lee requested me to say for her to you that
she had: reeewed your note & was greatly: obhged to you for
the ¢dre you had taken of her things. She was too ill to write
herself. As soon as she can be moved she is to. ‘be taken to
Gen. Cocke’s. She begs if the things are- safe, you will con-
tinue to take ‘care of them till the fall, when she will cer-

tainly send for them. She also requested that special thanks
might be given to whoever assisted yau in takmg care of
them from her” .. . 2 TR e B

4 am yeurs N R
e ANNE ROSE PAGE 2

Where the ‘Parsonage was Iocated and exactly who Miss

or Mrs. Page was I have not been able to determine yet, but

~we do know from Miss Rose Macdonald’s book, entitled

Mrs. Robert E. Lee; that Mrs. Lee did go to the Cocke’s later
in the summer of 1864, and we do know that when the pres-

‘ent R. E. Lee Memorial Church, across the street, was con-
secrated in 1886, that ‘Major John Page and Miss Anne Rose
Page, of Hanover County, ‘were Iisted as among those pres-
ent.* : o i 3

o *Miss Page was the sister of Mrs. W.. N Pendleton, whose husband
was the Chief of Artillery of the Army of Northern Virginia, C.. 8. A,
and rector of the present R “E: Lee Memorial church in Lexmgton.
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Well, admittedly we are indulging here in theories. Why
not? They are propounded in a kindly and a sympathetic
way, and again I say I am an engineer, but I hope not the
type of engineer who has concrete opinions, thoroughly
mixed, and permanently set. I like to evolve theories based
upon fact and then try to-explode them,
Now is it really true that the Lee silver was here‘? If 80,
‘what silver was it? Where was it buried? What was the
name of the old V. M. I sergeant? Certain it is there were
several sergeants at V. M. I, and after exploding some ill-
founded hypotheses, I tried another which produced inter-
esting results; Let’s drag in another engineer, who was later
much better known as a philosopher—Herbert Spencer, Of
him Huxley said that his idea of a tragedy was a theory
killed by a fact. Before stnkmg a good lead, I encountered
severai tragedies. -
‘Our V. M: L histories tell of an ordnance sergeant named
’John Dempsey, the Official Records of the war, published
by the Federal Government in the eighties and nineties; call
him’ Rapwtsay (O. B: L, page 790); and, when the corps of
cadets went to Richmond in: 1861 he was turned over to
Colonel John B. Magruder, ‘who was in charge of the artil-
lery instruetion there, The correct name of this old soldier
is John Hampsey, and some of those present tonight knew
him. He married a Rockbridge County girl (Martha E. La-
rew)—perhaps he might have something to do with our
- story. Sergeant Hampsey died (Feb. 11, 1904), a few months
before I was.graduated at V. M. 1, although I am unaware
of any connection between the two events: Perhaps the fact
that he was-in his 84th year liad more to do with it. By his
will, which I chanced to look up one day, he left his earthly
goods, unenumerated; to his niece, Jane Hampsey, who like
the old man had:been born in Ireland. The niece died in
1923: (Dec: 20)- and by will left her property to several peo-
ple, but one item caught my eye—"to Hope Ervine my pho-
‘tograph of General Lee.” '

“Perhaps: this clue: rmght lead: somewhere Having tired
* of-some work'I was doing on the last volume of the V. M. L
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history, I @ecided on the afternoon of Easter Sunday to catch
some- air. It was about a month ago and you will recall it -
was a raw, gloomy day. I set out for Brownsburg, where the
Hampseys were reporteé to have lived. Stopping:in the vil-
~ lage T started to examine some notes with the intention of -
asking people, who were. .approaching, for directions. A car
pulled up beside me, discharged some passengers and two
gentlemen alighted and spoke. By a stroke of fortune, they
proved fo ‘be the Bosworths; father and son—the; father be-
~ ing probably the oldest: resident of. the community. Yes, he
“knew Sergeant Hampsey and he knew where the Lee silver
‘was reported to have been hidden. Furthermore, he would
pass'the place in a few minutes‘and would point-it out, and
so he did. It is on-the north' side of the road to Fairfield about
two ‘miles from’ Brownsburg Diagonally across the road
from the Hampsey ‘home' is a barn and back of that still
stands'part of an older barn. It was beneath the floor of the
latter that the chests were buried. I was told that they were
- later removed and buried on the side of the hill which rises
‘behind the home on the south side of the road. My kind
guides went their way after: direi:tmg mée to where’ some
‘people by the name of ‘Ervine lived. The house sits back
from the road’ and after making friends with several dogs
which heralded my approaeh with continuous barking, I
was admitted to‘the house and entered a room where five
‘adults-and a little child were passing ‘the afternoon. Three
generations were there assembled. The older ladies, Miss
Bess Ervine and Mrs. D, J. Whipple knew Sergeant Hamp-
sey well—he was their nearest neighbor. thermore, their
‘mother-had been present when the silver was dug up af-
~ter-the ‘war. She saw this herself and had frequently told
them about it. They were, therefore, quite: positive that
" the silver had not been re-buried on the hillside. Mrs. Whip-
ple added that a United States flag had been sent here with
the silver; was buried with it; and it Iater caused some spec-
ulation as to what would have happened if ‘the location of
the silver had been discovered. She said further that she
- had always been told that the chests were brought by a
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Negro who drove a one-horse wagon which arrived about
three ¢’clock in the morning and that he came by little used
roads—not by the Plank Road. When I asked about sts
Hope Ervine, to whom the Lee photograph had been be-
queathed, I found that she had died, but after a quick look
around, one of the ladies, Miss Faith Thompson, left the
room. She returned soon with a - photograph carefully
wrapped, It belonged to her and she had exchanged some
other picture for it. The photograph of the General is now
worn and somewhat deteriorated—at the bottom is. his sig-
nature. It was interesting, but while living in Lexington
General ‘Lee autographed many of his photographs. How
could one know that there was any particular significance in
this photograph? The ladies distinctly recalled General Cus-
tis Lee driving out to see the old sergeant occasionally and
bringing magazines and. papers. They had heard that Gen-
eral Robert E. Lee himself had called there but they, and
everybody else I found who knew. Sergeant Hampsey, vol-
unteered the information that he loved t{o talk and his tales
were romantic-and tall. People who had examined the photo-
graph had told the owner that it was not authentic and well,
what to do? The picture was then removed from the frame.
What is this? Some one has written on the back of the card-
"board with a pencil. It is the-unmistakable handwriting of
Mrs. Lee but some of it _is so indistinet that my old eyes
cannot decipher what is there. A readmg glass is brought
~ then itis easy to see:

“For...

“Sergeant Hempsey

- “A small-festimony of regard for a very nnportant serv-
1ce, preserving by his faithfulness for me the most valuable
property saved from Arhngton

M. C.Lee :

~ “December 25th, 1866,

Mrs. Lee here used the. spellmg Hempsey and the use of
the ‘e’ instead ‘of the ‘@’ appears in some other papers, but he
wrote his.name Hampsey and it so appears in the U. S.
Army records; in the court records, on his tomb and else-
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where. The owner of the picture kindly consented to have
her neighbor, Andrew McClung,. who operates Andre’s Stu-
dio herein: Lexmgton, copy both the picture and the i inscrip-
tion and you may examine them in a few mmutes ‘There
can be little doubt that the inscription will soon fade away,
since ‘even now some-of the words wlnch I could detect
with a reading glass are not clear.in the photograph
And here would I introduce the old sergeant himself. 1t
we are to talk about him we should know how he Iooked.
But utiless your ideas differ from mine, t}ns rough old son
of Ireland, whose service of ten years in the United States
Army included ‘the: campaigns in Mexico. and whose serv-
‘ice in the Confederacy-took. ‘him from Vlrglma to Georgxa,.
‘looks different from: what you expect. Mrs. D. J. Whipple
of Brewnsburg ‘has gracxously withdrawn Sergeant Hamp-
sey’s. photograph from her garret so. that I m;ght show it .
to you, It is here.:In the words of Mrs Lee he preserved
“the ‘most ‘valuable property. saved.. from Arhngton,” and.
we might go further and say that this was the. precious
silver from Mount Vernon:which had come to. the owners
ton ‘from General ‘Washington. The szlver had
- some intrinsic ‘and rather more. sentimental value, ‘but in
addition to the silver this garrulous old: mldier, who knew
how to keep his ‘mouth shut, saved. other precious doeu-
'mentary relics, which-have great hxstor;cal value.. =
Just four days after reaching Richmond General Lee
Wmte to his wife, “The Mount Vernon plate and pmtures
ought to be secured. .. . War is inevitable.” And very soon
thereafter ‘the family plate, the Washington letters -and
papers and some other valuables were sent to Alexandria
' to be forwarded ‘to Richmond—and . there they were more
than a year Iater, dccording t0.a letter written by Mrs; Lee
during -the Peninsula campaign. Just when the property
was sent to this vicinity,'in the ‘two-year penad that . fol-
“lowed, I have not been able to determine. . .
- Tt was three days before the evacuation of Rmhmond that
Mrs. Lee wrote to General Smith, the supemntendent at
V. M. L, and said: “I also take this occasion to. thank you
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- for your care of our silver and papers, and to inquire if
you think they can remain. perfectly safe where they are
until the close of the war, as T would like to-preserve the
only relicks Iéft us of our once happy home.” And she add-
ed: “It would give me great pleasure if you could call. to
see me when you eome to town.” This is interesting because
the V. M. 1. was then located at the:Alms House in Rich-
- mond, but it was apparently considered to be so remote as
to be out of the city. The letter also tells us that the Wash-
ington papers were with the silver, and in later years in
Lexington, which Mrs. Lee described as “now the most in-
accessible place I know of,” the former lady of Arlmgton
used these valued papers in editing and revising the book
1ssued in 1860, known as “Recollections and Private Mem-
oirs of Washmgton, by his Adopted Son, George Washington
Parke Custis, with & Memoir of the Author, by his daughter 2
And she wrote that these old papers “are nearly all that are
left me from a home once- a‘boundmg in rehcs of the Father

of Our Country %

'decldmg ‘to come to Lexington" ‘Who knows‘? Perhaps 50,
perhaps not. Have we found out anything new about the
preservation of the Lee property? Perhaps not, since others
knéw about the hiding place and about the picture—and
one of the earliest stories I can recall concerned the cook
who rushed to the ship’s captain and asked, “Cap’n, is any-
thing lost when you know where it’s at?” “Why no.” Well,
Cap’n, de copper kittle’s overboard.”

~ However, in this room are some people who have hved

hereabouts for many years. And so if this story is new to

" some of them, it is perhaps worth translating from the realm
. of tradition to the more tangible and permanent field of

written history. In doing so 1 could add that the occurrence

has appeared in fantastic form in the county papers and it
is briefly mentioned in Sergeant Hampsey’s obituary notice.

As so much of thxs address has had to do with General Lee,
may T be indulged in a boyhood recollection—perhaps the
first time I ever heard anything about General Lee or about
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Lexington, When I was eight years old I went {o the ceme-
tery in Norfolk one afternoon with my father, and there a .
throng had gathered to dedicate a beautiful granite monu-
" ment on which was emblazoned the word, HOPE. An inter-
esting legend, but the inscription went on to say the monu~
ment was a tribute by his friends to the memory of a poet,
patriot, scholar, journalist and knightly Virginia gentleman.
It referred to the poet laureate of Virginia—James Barron
Hope. Some of you' knew his danghter, Mrs. Janey Hope
Marr, who lived here 35 to 50 years ago. In after years she
assembled some of his immortal lyncs under the title, “A-
Wreath of ergmla Bay Leaves,” and so it is possible for us
to know in some degree why the vast assemblage did honor
to this inspired Virginian. Certain it is], as a boy, had no
idea of why he was so honored, save that I heard my parents
speak highly of him. “He had the fierceness of the manliest
mind, and all the meekness toa of womankind.” But some of
you will recall that when the cornerstone of the great eques-
trian statue of General Lee was laid in- chhmond in 1887,
James Barron Hope was selected to Tead on that occasion
a memorial ode, he having previously written several in-
spirational odes on themes dear o the people of the South-
land. Congress chose him as poet for the Yorktown Centen-
nial, 1881. Ironically, the poet was denied the privilege of
reading the Lee Memorial Ode. Six weeks before the ap-
pointed time, the poem was completed—the next day the
poet died and that grand old gentleman, Captain William
Gordon McCabe, read the ode in which Virginia’s Poet Laur-
eate—the man whose musical pen might readily have
painted for us a wondrous word picture—declined to depict
the great military chieftain. And I'd like to think that every
Virginia school boy and girl could repeat his words “with
dying breath but deathless melody.”
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- #Ask me, if you please, to paint
. Storm winds upon the sea;
Tell me to weigh great Cheops—
Set voleanig forces free
But bid me not, my Countrymen,
To picture Robert Lee

“He tnumphed and he dld not die!—
No funeral bells are tolled,

* But on that day m_Lexmgton :
Fame came herself to hold
His stirrup while he mounted
To rifie doWn the streets of 'géld '

*He is not dead' There is no death'
He only went before ==
_ His journey on when Christ the Lord
Wide open held the door-—’
* And a calm, celestial peace is his:
Thank ch* Forevermore 2



" YESTERYEARS OF
FALLING SPRING CHURCH

s 'I‘ha Murth quarterly meeting of the Society was held on July
23,.184 a)' t the Falling Spring: Church ‘in Rockbridge County,

~ Virgind . this meeting the following’ ‘paper on the early his-
tory.of: the church was read by W. ‘Wi}hams,D D of
Hampden-Sydney, a fonner pastor ot the church. e

g i3 the thu:ty mmutes a!loted to- thxs part of the program,
it is obvious that nothmg properly entitled a history of this
- church can.-be attempted. That would indeed be an under-
taking well worthwhile, for here is. hlstcry deserving to be
fully written